IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 69,715

HAROLD SMITH,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

CASE NO. 84-1993

SHARON B. JACOBS, P.A. Counsel for Petitioner Suite 305 Coconut Grove Bank Building 2701 South Bayshore Drive Miami, Florida 33133 (305) 858-0444

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Harold Smith, will be referred to in this brief as "defendant," "Happy" or "Mr. Smith." Respondent, the State of Florida, will be referred to as "the State," or "the prosecutor(s)." References to the pleadings contained in this Record on Appeal will be designated as "R," followed by the appropriate page number(s), set forth in parenthesis [Example: (R. 1)]. References to the trial transcripts in this case will be referred to as "T." followed by the appropriate page number(s), set forth in parenthesis [Example: (T.2)].

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Petitioner, Harold Thomas Smith, known as "Happy" was tried by a jury and found guilty as charged of the second degree murder of his wife. He was sentenced to serve 17 years in prison and the trial judge recommended that he receive psychiatric and drug counseling while incarcerated.

On appeal, the District Court of Appeal, Third District, found that a substantial amount of both lay and expert evidence raised the issue regarding Happy Smith's insanity at the time of his offense, his sole defense. (R. 88). The court also found that the trial court had erroneously instructed the jury with former Standard Jury Instruction (Criminal) 3.04 which this Court has considered and found that it incorrectly and inaccurately states the law in Florida. Yohn v. State, 476 So. 2d 123 (Fla. 1985).

No objection to the jury instruction was made at trial, therefore the District Court affirmed the adjudication of guilt, as it was bound to do under the precedent of Snook v. State, 478 So. 2d 403 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). In Snook a former panel of the Third District Court of Appeal had held that the issue could not be reviewed on appeal because the error had not been preserved and it did not constitute fundamental error.

The panel in this case, however, expressed concern about the rationale in Snook and certified the following question to this Court as being of great public importance:

WHETHER THE JURY INSTRUCTION ON INSANITY DISAPPROVED IN YOHN V. STATE, 476 So. 2d 123 (fla. 1985) IS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR REQUIRING REVERSAL IN THE ABSENCE OF OBJECTION?

The matter before this Court turns on the legal question. The following summary of facts which were adduced at trial is provided primarily to afford this Court a practical insight into the substantial variety and complexity of testimony, both lay and expert, that the jurors faced and had to weigh and apply to the jury instruction in determining the only issue in the case: whether the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Happy Smith was sane at the time of the offense.

Harold Smith got the nickname "Happy" because it was the reverse of what he really was; he never smiled. (T. 636). He did not have a good home life. (T. 538). He had scarlet fever when he was young which left him with a learning disability. He was illiterate and could not read or write. (T. 657). In August of 1983, his mother died. (T. 655).

On January 31, 1984, at 5:00 p.m., Lorri Smith punched out at the Publix store where she worked. (T. 228-9). She then drove the mile and a half to the home she shared with her Happy Smith (T. 231) at 13735 N.W. 4th Court. husband, (T. 235). At about 5:10-5:12, Lorri's father telephoned her to make arrangements to go out to dinner with Happy and Lorri. Happy answered the telephone and told him that Lorri was changing her clothes. (T. 233). When Lorri's mother phoned back between 5:15 and 5:20, Happy again answered and said, "Lorri wasn't going anywhere, she was dead ... she was dead, dead, dead. I killed her." (T. 234). He then hung up. A neighbor reported having heard three shots at about the same time, between 5:15-5:20, (T. 477).

Lorri's mother testified that Happy had never talked to her like that before, so angrily. (T. 250). She went to his house, which was five minutes away. (T. 235). She called his name, banged on the door, and rang the door bell. (T. 235). Finally, after two minutes, he came to the door, and without opening it said, "She was dead and he had killed her and ... get away and leave." (T. 236).

She went next door and called the police. (T. 238). An officer arrived on the scene at 5:47. Lorri's mother advised the officer that Happy was probably heavily armed (T. 323), that he was paranoid, and also that he had been treated in the past for mental problems. (T. 326). The officer deemed it advisable not to enter the house but instead requested units for backup. A perimeter was set up to keep people out of the area and to con-

tain Mr. Smith therein. (T. 323-4). Detectives and police from the North Miami SWAT team came and tried to get him out, since he was barricaded inside with a house full of guns. (T. 238).

When Detective Craig got the initial call over the radio, it sounded to him as if it were being handled as a hostage situation. When he arrived they were setting up a command post, taking positions on all four corners, and then trying to make phone contact. (T. 331-2). Lieutenant Each, who made initial phone contact, wasn't getting anywhere with Happy, so Detective Craig took over. (T. 333).

Over a period of forty-five minutes, Craig had several phone conversations with Happy. Happy would hang up with Craig and Craig would call back. Happy wanted to think about things. He asked for a drink of water. He asked to hang up. He did hang up. Craig asked to speak to his wife and asked if she were okay. Happy assured Craig she was okay and at one point said she was in the shower. Another time, he said she was lying down. Craig asked Happy to let her leave but Happy said, "No, she was okay." (T. 334-5).

Happy told Craig he knew the telephone was tapped, and also told him he thought people were after him. (T. 346). Craig handled Happy carefully. (T. 347). At one point, Happy said he would come out, but he did not; so Craig called him on the telephone again and said, "Harold, you promised me to come out. You didn't come out." He then assured Craig that he would. (T. 348). At 7:46, Happy exited the house. (T. 346).

when he came out he looked dazed, like he didn't know where he was. Jane Arganow, a friend and neighbor who was there at the time, tried talking to him; but he just stared at her. (T. 648). Later, when asked, he said that he did not remember seeing her. (T. 641). In fact, he didn't remember anything that happened (T. 536), except something about being dragged out of the house by the police. (T. 743). He walked down the walkway to the gate towards Detective Craig. (T. 339). Happy Smith was then taken into police custody and put in a holding cell monitored by video cameras. (T. 357).

Fire rescue went to check on Lorri. She was curled up on her side in a fetal position. (T. 362). The medical examiner testified that she had died from multiple gunshot wounds. (R. 27, 30, 32-35). She had one wound to the left back (T. 452) and another to the left arm (T. 454), both shots consistent with being shot at from a distance of two to three feet. (T. 454). The third shot was to the lower part of her abdomen. (T. 456).

At the time they found her, her green Publix uniform (shirt and pants), were under her, as were a pair of blue jeans. She was wearing a shirt, bra and panties. (T. 390-2). There was no sign of a struggle. (T. 402). She was not beaten up and there were no black and blue marks. (T. 469). It appeared that she had been shot and killed while she was changing clothes. (T. 402-3).

A Smith & Wesson Model 59, 9 ml. semi-automatic handgun, which caused her death, was found on the floor beneath Lorri's snoulder and the frame of the bed. (T. 393). The gun, which could fire 16 rounds, was loaded with twelve rounds in the clip and one in the chamber. (T. 395). Weapons were also found in most of the other rooms of the house (T. 358), including a Smith & Wesson .12 gauge pump shotgun, .22 Derringer, a 30/30 bolt action rifle, and ammunition for those weapons. (T. 401). In the trash can was beer. (T. 386).

The exterior of Happy and Lorri's house was laid out like a fortress. (T. 349). All the windows were barred including the air conditioner, the vent in the kitchen and an exhaust fan. There were two fences across the front of the house — both a stockade-type fence and a chainlink fence. There was a buzzer device on the front gate, wired to the front door. The front door had two dead bolts. Also, flood lights surrounded the house. There was a "Beware of the Dog" sign in the yard (T. 350-2) and his pit bulls. (T. 555, 637). The house had the most extensive security system the crime scene officer had ever seen, including two burglar alarm systems. (T. 377). No other houses in the neighborhood were similarly secured. (T. 561, 639). Even the door to Happy and Lorri's bedroom was kept locked. (T. 647).

Happy Smith made his living as a Volkswagen mechanic. (T. 662). Dr. Blum, a physician friend and client of Happy Smith's, who used to have his car fixed at the shop where Happy worked, testified that he was a good mechanic. (T. 546). When Happy decided to fix cars out of his house, Dr. Blum continued to take his car to him there. (T. 544).

Dr. Blum testified that in the past Happy had had a fair amount of business fixing cars. He testified, however, that

about a year before the murder, Happy became increasingly depressed and was unable to fix cars. (T. 544-46).

A neighbor testified that he was always working on cars and would spend most of his time outside working in the yard. (T. 560). At the time of the incident, there were several cars in front of the house. (T. 403). This same neighbor, who used to see him outside three or four times a week (T. 560), testified that in the few months prior to the shooting, Happy was never outside anymore. He had stopped working on cars. (T. 637). He was very withdrawn (T. 563), depressed and quiet. (T. 545). He was afraid people were after him and that they were going to kill him. (T. 547). He thought his telephone was tapped. (T. 639).

Happy Smith's fears had been triggered by an episode over a year ago in North Florida when he had been arrested for attempting to transport drugs. (T. 546-7). He thought that the people who had been involved with him in the incident thought that he was responsible for the whole thing going wrong. He was convinced something was going to happen to him; he didn't think he was going to survive. (T. 546-7). Friends who knew him testified that he never gave specific names of people out to get him, nor did they ever learn of anyone actually following him. (T. 547-8).

He became increasingly fearful and progressively worse. Dr. Blum prescribed valuum for him (T. 548-9), and even tried to find an agency where he could get help. (T. 553). Prior to this time, he had confided to the doctor that he had sclerosis of the liver. The doctor advised him to stop drink-

ing. (T. 548-9). Others, however, testified that they had not ever known him to either drink or use drugs. (T. 566, 539).

On December 16, 1982, Happy went to the North Miami Community Mental Health Clinic. (R. 36-70). He was depressed and feeling paranoid, like someone was after him to kill him. (T. 501). He was evaluated by a psychiatrist who diagnosed him effective disorder, disease paranoia." "major type with Trilaton, elavil and cogentin were prescribed and continued outpatient psycho-therapy was recommended. (T. 502-3). Happy returned on January 6, 1983, with his wife, at which time the medication was changed to haldol, a major tranquilizer. again on January 20, 1983 (T. 504), and then for the last time, March 24, 1983. (T. 511). An after-care therapist contacted him in May of 1983 and closed the case in July of 1983. (T. 524). Six days before the homicide on January 25, 1984, Happy Smith contacted the clinic himself and requested a return to services. An appointment was set for Friday, January 27, 1984, but Happy did not keep it since he had located some valium else-He called back again on Monday, January 30, 1984, and again requested an appointment. An appointment was then set for February 1, 1984 (T. 527-8), the day after Lorri's death.

His neighbors also said that he became nervous and paranoid and always thought that someone was out to get him. He would say, "'They are out to get me.' 'They're gonna kill me.' I would ask him who, and there was never an answer." No one was ever seen trying to get him or threaten him. He could be sociable and just talking and then all of a sudden there would be a

nation. (T. 562). Because neighbor William Holley was afraid that Happy might do something irrational, he told his girlfriend that he did not want Happy in their home if he was not there. (T. 563).

During the week preceding the shooting, Happy and Lorri went to visit a friend, Carolyn Catanzaro in the hospital. She discussed Happy's mental state with Lorri. Lorri related to her that she and Happy had been driving down the expressway and that Happy, the volkswagen mechanic, had thought that he saw a silver Mercedes following them. He thought someone was out to get them. When Lorri slowed down, she saw it was just a Volkswagen passing by. (T. 618).

To another friend, Joseph Catanzaro, a few days before the murder, he had said, "You know they've got a contract out on me... the big fellows, the biggees," although he never named the big fellows to him nor did he ever see any of them. (T. 627). Mr. Catanzaro testified that two or three months prior to the murder Lorri had mentioned the possibility of having Happy involuntarily committed to a mental health institution. (T. 630).

Another time, he walked out to the street with a friend, Thomas Patterson, and pointed to a car that drove by. Patterson related the following interchange with Happy: "'That's one of them that's going to kill me.' I said, Happy, that's Robert, he's not going to kill you. 'Yes he is,' Happy said." (T. 534-5).

Two days before the shooting, Linda Barnhart and her fiance went to visit Happy and Lorri. When they got there it was broad daylight and Happy was sitting on the couch shaking and trembling. She asked what was wrong and he said somebody was out to kill him. Her fiance then went outside in the yard to check. Then she and her fiance and Lorri encircled Happy so that he could go outside and see for himself. It took them twenty minutes to get him outside. Lorri told Linda that he had been without his medication for several days and that neither of them had left the house. (T. 487-9).

That same day Happy's brother, Edward Smith, came to visit and found him in the worst condition he had ever seen him. (T. 659). Again, Happy did not want to leave the house.

Lorri's mother, who was close to her daughter, knew of no problems in Happy and Lorri's relationship. They were deeply in love. (T. 245). None of their friends and neighbors thought they had any problems. (T. 494-535). When a friend suggested that he leave town because of his fears, he said he could not because Lorri would not leave with him. (T. 536). Happy was illiterate. He depended on Lorri to read to him. (T. 645). When he had to make out bills for repair work, Lorri would write the bills for him. (T. 549-550). Friends testified that they had a great relationship. They were always joking and never had any arguments. They talked to each other and were very open. They frequently sat on the couch with their arms around each other. (T. 658).

On January 30, 1984, the day before the murder, Lorri and Happy and Lorri's parents went to the Jefferson's Store to buy a video cassette recorder (VCR). Lorri went off to look for a Valentine's Day card for Happy. Happy then said he was going to look for Lorri but he disappeared and didn't come back. Lorri's parents discovered later that he thought he had seen someone in the store and he took a cab home. (T. 242-3).

There was testimony at trial that during the time he spent in jail awaiting trial both lay people and professionals who came in contact with him were concerned about his mental sanity. On January 31 or February 1, fire rescue got a call from the jail. Happy was complaining of sharp pain in the lower back. When they got there, they discovered no source for the pain but noticed Happy bouncing on the bench. (T. 580-1). On the morning of February 1, Mr. Smith was screened by a nurse at the Dade County jail. She asked him how he was feeling and he answered that he was depressed ... that he had just killed his wife. (T. 588). As part of her screening process (T. 591), the nurse made the following observations (R. 72):

2. Does inmate have ... symptoms suggesting the need for doctor's care? -- Yes.

She underscored doctor's care because she thought he should see a psychiatrist. (T. 592, 596).

3. Does the inmate appear to be under the influence of an unknown substance? -- Yes.

He was then placed in a safety cell by himself. The nurse went back every ten or fifteen minutes to check on him. She would find him just standing at the door. When she asked how he was doing, he just looked. Sometimes he would say 'yes', like he was out of it. (T. 597).

Because of the nurse's concern regarding Happy's emotional state, Dr. Robert Brewer, clinical psychologist, visited him. (T. 663-4). He found him very depressed, upset and crying. (T. 665). Happy described himself as being an 'asshole'. (T. 673). On February 3, when the doctor next saw him, he made three possible diagnoses: 1) Possibility of organic brain syndrome; 2) substance abuse — suspected alcohol; and 3) personality disorder and simple reactive depression. He did not consider Happy to be an acute suicidal threat at that time and moved him to the general population. (T. 666-7).

Then, over the weekend, on February 4 and February 5, two incident reports were received. The inmates said that Happy was dangerous and imbalanced and a threat to everyone. (R. 74). He was attempting to break the television and threatening all of the inmates. One inmate had to remain awake at all times to protect the others. The inmates requested that he be moved. (R. 75).

On Monday, Febraury 5, when Dr. Robert Brewer next saw Happy he was back in a strip cell, confused and disoriented. It was obvious that he could not be with the general population. He did not respond and did not appear to be aware of where he was or what was happening. He was psychotic. (T. 668-9). Visits on

February 7, February 9, and February 10 revealed no change. Concerned, Dr. Brewer recommended that Happy be seen by a pyschiatrist. (T. 669). On February 13, he had improved and was taken from the strip cell to the general population. (T. 671).

One of the inmates testified that sometime in the latter part of February the inmates started complaining again about He would walk up behind them all of a sudden and they would turn around and he would be there. (T. 683). He would go to bed, sleep soundly for four or five minutes, then get up and pace for six hours. Then he would sleep soundly again but for only four or five minutes and then get up. (T. 680). He began talking to the television and the radio. He would get up by the television and listen to the vent. He thought someone was talking to him. An inmate testified: "I don't know it he was talking to his wife or who. He kept telling her, 'Honey', he didn't know why he was there and he didn't know what happened. And he was just talking to somebody by the name of Harold." (T. 682). "Finally, they took him downstairs. When they brought him back up he was medicated. Now it's hard for them to get him out of bed to go and eat. The inmates have to wake him up for everything." (T. 683).

Again, on March 26, there were incident reports stating he was confused and did not know where he was. They were not able to keep him in the general open population any longer. (T. 671). He was removed again to a rear holding cell. (T. 723). Dr. Brewer saw him on March 27. He was agitated and very upset and a minor tranquilizer was ordered immediately. (T. 672).

Happy, however, was refusing to take his medication because he felt he was being poisoned. He thought someone was trying to kill his family. (T. 726).

Three psychiatrists examined Happy and testified at Psychiatrist, Dr. Arthur Stillman, examined him two times for the purpose of determining his sanity on the date of the crime, January 31, 1984. He examined him on May 30, 1984, (T. 735) and again on June 11, 1984 (T. 760), for a total of about four hours. (T. 778). Dr. Stillman concluded that Happy had brain damage and suffered from organic brain syndrome. (T. 740-44). Dr. Stillman based his opinion on what Mr. Smith told him, his own personal observations, jail records (T. 763), mental health records (T. 755; 778), and the information from the family, friends depositions οf and neighbors (T. Mr. Smith's memory was poor and he had little recollection of details (T. 740-1), he was a slow learner and with an uneven bent of abilities, i.e. he could not read or write but he had good mechanical abilities, (T. 744) and that he had had an early childhood disease (T. 744).

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