IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



FEB 12 1987

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Petitioner, :

VS.

: CASE NO. 69,838

PAUL CLAIR LENTZ, :

Respondent. :

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER

GLENNA JOYCE REEVES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. The instruction on insanity in 3.04(b) says nothing about insanity being an element of the offense, which it clearly is. See Parkin v. State. Therefore, we cannot conclude that the erroneous specific instruction was cured by the general one.

In sum, the law in Florida provides for a rebuttable presumption of sanity, which if overcome by the defendant, puts the burden on the state to prove sanity beyond a reasonable doubt just like any other element of the offense. The standard jury instructions given in this case do not completely and accurately state that law.

Id., at 128.

In the present case, the jury was given the insanity instruction, which this Court has recognized as wholly incomplete and accurate. Admittedly, there was no objection made to the jury instructions as given. This omission is not, however, fatal.³

In <u>Williams v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 542 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981), 4 the court recognized that although the contemporaneous objection rule is generally applicable to jury charges, certain exceptions to that rule exist. Of particular import here, the court

Even if the omission of counsel were considered fatal, respondent would nonetheless be entitled to relief under Johnson v. Wainwright, 498 So.2d 938 (Fla. 1987). Since Yohn v. State, 450 So.2d 898 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) was available, counsel should have requested specific instructions, and the failure to do so establishes ineffectiveness.

⁴In <u>Williams</u>, the issue on appeal was whether the omission from the definition of robbery in the jury charge of the intent to deprive held in <u>Bell v. State</u>, 394 So.2d 979 (Fla. 1981) to be an element of that crime constituted fundamental error. The defendant therein had not objected to the omission and the jury was instructed in accordance with the standard instructions:

recognized that the failure to instruct the jury on an element of a crime constitutes fundamental error when the omission or error in the definition of the crime is pertinent or material to what must actually be considered by the jury in order to convict. The court noted that fundamental error has repeatedly been found where the omission or misstatement in the jury charge related to a critical and disputed jury issue in the case:

While there are several broad references to an affirmative duty of the trial court to instruct the jury on the elements of the crime charged, e.g., Croft v. State, 117 Fla. 832, 158 So. 454, 456 (1935); Whitehead v. State, 245 So.2d 94, 99 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1971), the fact is that every such omission or misstatement which has actually been found to constitute fundamental error concerned a critical and disputed jury issue in the case. State, supra (omission of then-element of armed robbery that, if resisted, defendant have intent to kill or maim person assaulted); Gerds v. State, 64 So.2d 915 (Fla. 1953) (omission of intent element of breaking and entering with intent to commit rape; "[f]or all that appears under this charge, the jury could have had for its sole determination the question of whether defendant broke and entered the dwelling house of the prosecutrix and nothing else."); Anderson v. State,

^{4 (}cont'd)

The issue in this case is common to all, or nearly all, robbery convictions secured in Florida between 1976 and 1980. It arises because the standard jury instruction given by the trial court on the crime of robbery under Section 812.13, Florida Statutes (1975), as amended by Chapter 74-383, § 38, Laws of Florida, although generally approved by the supreme court itself, see Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 327 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1976), did not include - incorrectly, as it turned out - the intent element required by Bell. The appellant contends here that this mistake fatally infects the judgment below and requires reversal notwithstanding his failure to raise the issue at trial.

276 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1973) (failure to define premeditation in first degree murder case); Polk v. State, 179 So.2d 236 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1965) (same); Motley v. State, 155 Fla. 545, 20 So.2d 798 (1945) (omission from selfdefense instruction of right to resist if defendant believed himself in imminent danger of harm, although, as the evidence in the case showed, no actual assault was made; error "goes to the essence and entirety of the defense") ' Whitehead v. State, supra (omission from definition of justifiable homicide of defense which "from appellant's version of the tragedy . . . was relevant to the exculpatory argument . . . that he was lawfully attempting to 'keep the peace'"); Bagley v. State, 119 So.2d 400 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960) (omission from justifiable homicide instruction of right to lawful defense of relative; defendant claimed she was acting in defense of son); Canada v. State, 139 So.2d 753 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1962) (omission of intent to deprive element from cattle stealing instruction; "the defense . . . was . . that [the defendant] had no intention of stealing the cattle, but that his actions were the result of instructions received from the agent of the owner . . ."); Ingram v. State, 393 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981) (omission of disputed and basic element of receipt of value for check from instructions on felony charge of obtaining property through worthless check).

[Footnotes omitted]. Id., at 544-545. Although the Williams court found no fundamental error since there was no dispute as to the intent issue, subsequent cases have reversed on a fundamental error rationale where there was an issue at trial with respect to the omitted element. E.g., Graham v. State, 406 So.2d 503 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981) (failure to instruct on specific intent to permanently deprive in robbery case fundamental reversible error where intent made a material issue of trial by defense voluntary intoxication); Jackson v. State, 412 So.2d 381 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982), pet. for review denied

419 So.2d 1200 (Fla. 1982) (failure to instruct on specific intent in robbery case fundamental error where intent made material issue of trial by defense of duress and coercion; "Since the intent question was thus a real issue at the trial, and even though the omission was not objected to, the trial court committed fundamental error in failing to instruct the jury that intent to deprive is, as held in Bell v. State, 394 So.2d 979 (Fla. 1981), indeed an element of the crime." Id., at 382). See also, Ramadanovic v. State, 480 So.2d 112 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (trial judge's inadvertent omission of essential phrase from standard instruction which could lead to confusion in the juror's minds constitutes reversible error); Doyle v. State, 483 So.2d 89, 90 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) ("The instruction was, or certainly could have been, misleading to the jury by suggesting that if they believed the defendant's version of self-defense, they would have to find the defendant guilty of murder in the third degree. giving of a misleading instruction constitutes both fundamental and reversible error."); and Carter v. State, 469 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), where the court, in holding that the trial judge's unintentional misstatement of law relating to self-defense constituted reversible error, stated:

We further recognize the fact that counsel made no objection to these instructions as given by the court. However, where as here, a trial judge gives an instruction that is an incorrect statement of the law and necessarily misleading to the jury, and the effect of that instruction is to negate the defendant's only defense, it

is fundamental error and highly prejudicial to the defendant. Failure to give a complete and accurate instruction is fundamental error, reviewable in the complete absence of a request or objection. Rodriguez v. State, 396 So.2d 798 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981); Bagley v. State, 119 So.2d 400 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960); Motley v. State 155 Fla. 545, 20 So.2d 798 (1945). Considering the facts of this case, we hold that these instructions constitute fundamental error.

In this instance, it is even more prejudicial to the defendant. The trial court emphasized the erroneous instruction by rereading it to the jurors just prior to their retiring to the jury room to consider their verdict. "Particularly in a criminal trial, the judge's last word is apt to be the decisive word." Bollenbach v. United States, 326 U.S. 607, 612, 66 S.Ct. 402, 405, 90 L.Ed. 350, 354 (1946).

Id., at 195-196.

Under the rationale of the foregoing cases, the failure to fully and accurately instruct on the burden of proof with respect to sanity constitutes fundamental error. Here, of course, Paul Lentz' sanity at the time of the offense was clearly in dispute and critically at issue. Once the presumption of sanity has been rebutted, as it was here, sanity is an element of the offense. Yohn v. State, supra at 128 ("The instruction on insanity in 3.04(b) says nothing about insanity being an element of the offense, which it clearly is."; "In sum, the law in Florida . . . puts the burden on the state to prove sanity beyond a reasonable doubt just like any other element of the offense."); Parkin v. State, 238 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1970); Hodge v. State, 26 Fla. 11, 7 So. 593 (1890).

element constitutes fundamental error.

The decision in Snook v. State, 478 So.2d 403 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985), holding to the contrary, is erroneous. Firstly, Snook totally fails to discuss Williams v. State, 400 So.2d 542 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981) and its progeny, which unquestionably supports respondent's contention that the instruction given here constitutes fundamental error. 5 Secondly, that court's reliance upon federal cases, which hold that it does not deny due process to place the burden of proof upon the defendant in an insanity case, to conclude that the error is not fundamental is totally misplaced. Yohn notes, Florida law differs from federal law. Id. 126. As a matter of state law, the burden of proof has not been placed on the defendant, but rather "we have chosen . . . to create a rebuttable presumption of sanity which if overcome, must be proven by the state just like any other element of the offense." Id. Since, as a matter of state law, sanity is an element of the offense, due process would be violated if the burden of proof were shifted to the defense. See, Sandstrom v. Montana, 422 U.S. 510 (1979).

The decision in Roman v. State, 475 So.2d 1228 (Fla. 1985) also fails to discuss the Williams rationale. The briefs show that the argument presented here - i.e., the Williams rationale - was not presented to the court in Roman and for that reason, that decision does not reject the issue.

In <u>Smith v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 910 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986), the Third District similarly questioned the rationale of Snook. The Court noted:

The rationale of Snook - that no fundamental error is involved because states may, consistent with federal due process, impose an affirmative burden of proof as to insanity upon the defendant - may not be persuasive in the light of the Yohn holding that the charge is contrary to the established Florida law on the subject. Indeed the Snook holding may also be called into question by the line of United States Supreme Court decisions that a jury charge which impermissibly shifts the burden of proof from the prosecution rises to the level of a due process violation. Sandstrom v. Montana, 442 U.S. 510, 99 S.Ct. 2450, 61 L.Ed.2d 39 (1979). Francis v. Franklin, 471 U.S. 307, 105 S.Ct. 1965, 85 L.Ed.2d 344 (1985).

Id. at 911, n.1.

Respondent maintains therefor that the failure to instruct fully and accurately as to the defense of insanity constitutes fundamental error entitling him to a new trial.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ORDER A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IN CLOSING ARGUMENT WHICH DE-PRIVED RESPONDENT HIS RIGHT TO A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR TRIAL.6

In its closing arguments, the state urged the jury to disregard their sympathy for Paul Lentz⁷ and to disregard the penalty which might be imposed upon him if the jury rejected his insanity defense. The state argued, inter alia,:

It's also the Judge's job -- and he will tell you -- that a the end of this case, if you find the Defendant guilty of the charge or any lesser included, that it is his job and his job exclusively to assign any penalty which he feels is appropriate. It is up to him to consider the appropriate penalty. He's heard every single thing that you've heard, and he will have an opportunity to think about it and reason through it and decide for himself what penalty is appropriate.

This is a difficult case. We are not trying to tell you that the Defendant is an evil man. That is not our intention. You heard from the defendant. You've had an opportunity to observe him. You've heard a lot of people talk about him. That's not the case (R-341).

It's hard to see the anguish and the pain that was involved in this case and not feel sympathy for the Defendant in this case, for all the problems that he was having and the pressures and how they got to him (R-355).

Once this Court acquires jurisdiction, it has the authority to consider the entire case on the merits. Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126, 1130 (Fla. 1982); Bould v. Touchette, 349 So.2d 1181, 1183 (Fla. 1977). See also Bell v. State, 394 So.2d 979, 980 (Fla. 1981); Zirin v. Charles Pfizer and Co., 128 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1961).

⁷ Even in closing, the prosecutor admitted the sympathy properly due Mr. Lentz:

[Emphasis supplied] (R-356-357). Before the jury retired to deliberate (R-445), respondent requested that the prosecutor's misstatements be cured by an instruction concerning the mandatory minimum sentences applicable here:

I think that you would be obligated to give at least the mandatory minimum penalties in this case for three separate reasons.

* * *

Mr. Norris -- they like the idea that the penalty is not an issue and then they play upon it and say, it's not an issue. It's up to the Judge and the Judge has the discretion. . . . You shouldn't worry about it. The Judge will decide what he can do.

The fact of the matter is there are three mandatory minimum sentencing verdicts in this case, and you can't -- you don't have the discretion. You can't decide.

Even if it is the law that you [do not] instruct on penalties, I think the instructions are almost compelled by his argument. He's created the impression that you can give this man probation for something like that. That's just not fair.

^{7 (}con'td)

I'm not saying he's a criminal . . . I'm not saying he's a psychopathic killer. The State has never said that (R-393).

By the way, Dr. Berland never said and no one has ever intimatd that the Defendant was on the way to becoming a criminal (R-405).

Three of the verdict options required imposition of the mandatory minimum three year sentence pursuant to Section 775.087 (2) since a firearm was involved (R-138-139). Further, the use of the firearm in the attempted first degree murder charge mandated a minimum sentence of 30 years imprisonment, § 775.082(3) (a), Fla. Stat.; Strickland v. State, 437 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1983), thus making the prosecutor's misstatement all the more egregious.

[Emphasis supplied] (R-441-443). In light of the amended version of Rule 3.390(a), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, 9 the trial court denied this request (R-444). In his motion for new trial and supplement thereto (R-142-143, 147-152), respondent argued the prosecutor's remarks mandated a new trial since they amounted to prosecutorial misconduct which denied him a fair and impartial trial (R-470-475, 487-489). The trial court denied the motion (R-490-491). In so ruling, the trial judge erred since the prosecutor's misstatement of law should have prompted a curative instruction or alternatively, a new trial is required because the argument fundamentally deprived respondent his right to a fair trial.

cutorial argument or misstatements of law may constitute prejudicial error. Pait v. State, 112 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1959);

Harvey v. State, 448 So.2d 578 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). The prosecutor's argument here constituted a blatantly misleading misstatement of law since the applicability of the mandatory minimum three year sentence for possession of a firearm totally precluded the trial judge from assigning "any penalty which he feels is appropriate." Further, the prosecutor's veiled suggestion that probation might be imposed was improper, as

⁹Effective January 1, 1985, that rule provides:

The presiding judge shall charge the jury only upon the law of the case at the conclusion of argument of counsel. Except in capital cases, the judge shall not instruct the jury on the sentence which may be imposed for the offense for which the accused is on trial. -23

well, since it may have denigrated the importance of the jury's deliberations. While no Florida cases appear directly on point, decisions from other jurisdictions persuasively demonstrate that the comments mandate a new trial.

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